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14 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

15 MATTHEW WILLIAMS, on 
Behalf of Himself, All Others 

16 Similarly Situated, and the 
17 General Public, 

18 

19 v. 

Plaintiff, 

20 ADT LLC dba ADT SECURITY 
21 SERVICES, 

) Case No: 
) 
) CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR: 
) 
) (1) NEGLIGENT 
) MISREPRESENTATION; 
) (2) INTENTIONAL 
) MISREPRESENTATION; 
) (3) FRAUD; 
) (4) UNJUST ENRICHMENT; 
) (5) VIOLATIONS OF THE 
) MAGNUSON-MOSS WARRANTY 

22 Defendant. ) ACT, 15 U.S.C. §§2301 ET SEQ.; 
23 ) (6) STRICT LIABILITY - DESIGN 

) DEFECT; 
24 ) (7) STRICT LIABILITY - FAILURE 

) TOWARN; 
25 ) (8) NEGLIGENCE - DESIGN DEFECT; 

) (9) NEGLIGENCE - F AlLURE TO 
26 ) WARN; 
27 ) (10) VIOLATIONS OF THE UNF AlR 

) COMPETITION LA W, CALIFORNIA 
28 ) BUSINESS & PROFESSIONS CODE 
f+------------) §§ 17200, ET SEQ.; 
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1 ) (11) VIOLATIONS OF THE FALSE 
) ADVERTISING LA W, CALIFORNIA 

2 ) BUSINESS & PROFESSIONS CODE 
) §§17500, ET SEQ.; 

3 ) (12) VIOLATIONS OF THE 
) CONSUMER LEGAL REMEDIES ACT, 

4 ) CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE §§ 1750, ET 
5 ) SEQ.; AND 

) (13) BREACH OF IMPLIED 
6 ) WARRANTY, CALIFORNIA 

) COMMERCIAL CODE §2314. 
7 ) 
8 H------------ ) DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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1 Plaintiff Matthew Williams ("Plaintiff'), on behalf of himself, all others 

2 similarly situated, and the general public, by and through his undersigned counsel, 

3 hereby sues defendant ADT LLC doing business as ADT Security Services 

4 ("ADT" or the "Company") and, upon information and belief, including through 

5 the investigation of his counsel, alleges as follows. 

6 

7 1. 

INTRODUCTION 

ADT is the ubiquitous provider of home security systems and 

8 servIces. Many of ADT's home security systems incorporate the use of glass break 

9 detectors, also called audio discriminators, which are designed to detect a break-in 

10 by "hearing" the sound of breaking glass. Audio discriminators, however, detect 

11 only the cracking or splintering sound of broken traditional pane glass, and not the 

12 sound of broken tempered glass, of which the vast majority of windows today are 

13 made. 

14 2. Plaintiff purchased a security system for his home, which ADT's 

15 predecessor entity installed, and paid ADT a monthly fee for security monitoring. 

16 In addition, Plaintiff leased the devices making up the security system from ADT. 

17 Nevertheless, Plaintiffwas a victim of burglary, which was accomplished when the 

18 audio discriminators incorporated into Plaintiffs home security system failed to 

19 detect the breaking of a tempered glass window through which the burglar(s) 

20 gained entry. 

21 3. ADT was and is aware that its audio discriminators are defectively 

22 designed III that they cannot detect the breaking of tempered glass. ADT 

23 nevertheless represented its home security systems incorporating audio 

24 discriminators were effective at detecting break-ins, and at the same time 

25 deceptively omitted this material information from potential purchasers when 

26 advertising those home security systems. 

27 4. Plaintiff brings this action to rectify ADT's unlawful behavior and 

28 obtain appropriate compensatory, punitive, and injunctive remedies for himself and 
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1 the Class (as defined herein). 

2 JURISDICTION & VENUE 

3 5. This Court has original jurisdiction over all causes of action asserted 

4 herein under the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. §1332(d)(2), because the 

5 matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000 exclusive of interest 

6 and costs and more than two-thirds of the Class reside in states other than the states 

7 in which defendant is a citizen. This Court also has original jurisdiction pursuant 

8 to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this action raises a federal question under the 

9 Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§2301, et seq. 

10 6. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391, because 

11 Plaintiff resides and suffered injury as a result of defendant's acts in this district, 

12 many of the acts and transactions giving rise to this action occurred in this district, 

13 defendant conducts substantial business in this district, defendant has intentionally 

14 availed itself of the laws and markets of this district, and defendant is subject to 

15 personal jurisdiction in this district. 

16 

17 

18 

7. 

8. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of California. 

Defendant ADT LLC is a Delaware limited liability corporation with 

19 its principal place of business at 1501 Yamato Road, Boca Raton, Florida. 

20 Accordingly, defendant ADT is a citizen of Delaware and Florida. 

21 FACTS 

22 ADT 

23 9. Founded in 1874, ADT has been in business over 140 years. Today, 

24 ADT employs nearly 17,000, has 260 authorized dealers across the country, and 

25 provides its security monitoring service through six monitoring centers scattered 

26 throughout the country. ADT has a customer base of over 6.5 million, and enjoys 

27 annual revenue of over $3.6 billion. 

28 10. Central to ADT's business is its home security systems and services, 
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1 whereby ADT installs security devices and monitors in the home that, under 

2 certain circumstances, trigger an alarm that is relayed to ADT, which then attempts 

3 to contact the homeowner to determine whether there is a genuine need for 

4 assistance and, if so, contacts law enforcement or other emergency personnel as 

5 needed. 

6 ADT'S Home Security Systems Employing Audio Discriminators Are 
7 Dangerously Defective 

8 11. ADT offers vanous home security systems that incorporate audio 

9 discriminators, which are perimeter devices designed to detect an intruder as he 

10 attempts to enter the home (as compared to other detectors that pick up the motion 

11 of a person walking around the interior of a home). 

12 12. Tempered glass is created by thermal or chemical treatments designed 

13 to put the outer surfaces into compression and the inner surfaces into tension, 

14 which stress causes the glass, when it breaks, to crumble into small granular 

15 chunks, instead of splintering into jagged shards as does traditional pane glass, 

16 thereby making it less likely to cause injury. 

17 13. The audio discriminators incorporated into certain ADT home security 

18 systems work by detecting the sound pane glass makes when shattered. This design 

19 is defective when used in conjunction with tempered glass because when tempered 

20 glass shatters, it does not make the normal high-pitched "ringing" sound generated 

21 by broken plate glass. 1 

22 14. This defective design creates a dangerous condition whereby a 

23 homeowner present when a break-in occurs may be under the reasonable 

24 expectation that an alarm has been conveyed to ADT, and the need for assistance 

25 

26 1 Information concerning the exact models of ADT audio discriminator(s) that 
27 suffer this defect, in which security systems they are used, and how widespread 

their use is, is in ADT's sole possession, custody, or control. In fact, ADT took the 
28 audio discriminators used at Plaintiffs house and claims to have destroyed them. 
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1 conveyed to law enforcement or other emergency personnel, when in reality an 

2 alarm has not been triggered. 

3 15. Because the audio discriminators do not detect the breaking of 

4 tempered glass, security systems employing these audio discriminators on 

5 windows made of tempered glass are dangerously defective, in that they are 

6 unlikely to provide emergency assistance to homeowners. 

7 Plaintiff's Purchase of an ADT Home Security System and Monitoring 
8 Service, Reliance, and Injury 

9 16. Plaintiff first purchased a home security system III about 2008, 

10 originally from Brinks Home Security ("Brinks"), which was later renamed 

11 Broadview Security. In or around 2010, Brinks was acquired by ADT, which also 

12 provided home security monitoring services to Plaintiff. 

13 17. When Plaintiff purchased his home security system, Brinks came to 

14 his house and installed the system, including the audio discriminators. Within the 

15 last two years, an ADT technician inspected the audio discriminators in Plaintiffs 

16 house. In particular, the alarm in Plaintiffs daughter's room would experience a 

17 delay in recognizing when a window was open. An ADT technician reviewed the 

18 audio discriminators in Plaintiffs house in response, yet did not raise the issue 

19 about the audio discriminators not working on tempered glass. 

20 18. Rather, in providing and installing a home security system, Brinks, 

21 and later ADT, represented to Plaintiff that the system was effective in detecting 

22 break-ins where entry is attempted by breaking a window. ADT never told Plaintiff 

23 that the audio discriminators installed as part of his home security system were 

24 ineffective in detecting the breaking of tempered glass. 

25 19. ADT is and has for some time been aware that its audio discriminators 

26 are defective inasmuch as they will not detect the breaking of tempered glass. 

27 20. Following his burglary, two ADT representatives visited Plaintiffs 

28 residence. During that visit, one of the representatives advised Plaintiff that the 
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1 reason the security system had not detected the break-in, set off an alarm, or 

2 notified ADT was because the window sensors used by the system could not detect 

3 the breaking of tempered glass. This admission by an ADT technician 

4 demonstrates the problem is and has for some time been known by ADT. 

5 21. ADT nevertheless advertised and continues to advertise its home 

6 security systems that incorporate audio discriminators are effective in detecting 

7 break-ins where entry is attempted by breaking a window. 

8 22. Because Plaintiffs home contains tempered glass windows, his ADT 

9 home security system, including ADT's related monitoring service, was effectively 

10 useless to Plaintiff, who was victimized by an undetected burglary. 

11 23. Even absent the burglary, the ADT home security system and services 

12 were worth significantly less than Plaintiff paid, as they provided only minimal 

13 protection, if any, against break-ins and theft. 

14 24. Plaintiff would likely not have purchased an ADT home security 

15 system, or related monitoring services, if Plaintiff knew that the audio 

16 discriminators incorporated into his home security system would be ineffective in 

17 detecting break-ins where entry is attempted through his tempered glass windows. 

18 At a minimum, Plaintiff would have been willing to pay far less than he did. 

19 CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

20 25. Plaintiff brings this action individually and on behalf of the following 

21 Class and Subclasses pursuant to Rule 23(a) and 23(b)(2) and (3) of the Federal 

22 Rules of Civil Procedure: 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

All United States residents who, during the ten years preceding the 
filing of this lawsuit (the "Class Period"), paid for monitoring by ADT 
of a home security system incorporating audio discriminators (the 
"Class"); 

On behalf of a subclass of all Class members that are California 
residents (the "California Subclass"); and 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

On behalf of a subclass of all Class members who experienced 
property theft damage as a result of a burglary where entry was gained 
through a broken tempered glass window ostensibly being monitored 
by an audio discriminator that failed to detect the break-in (the 
"Property Theft Subclass"). 

5 26. Excluded from the Class and Property Theft Subclass is defendant, 

6 any of ADT's parent companies, subsidiaries, and/or affiliates, officers, directors, 

7 legal representative, employees, co-conspirators, all governmental entities, and any 

8 judge, justice, or judicial officer presiding over this matter. 

9 27. The members in the proposed Class and Property Theft Subclass are 

10 so numerous that individual joinder of all members is impracticable, and the 

11 disposition of the claims of all Class and Property Theft Subclass members in a 

12 single action will provide substantial benefits to the parties and Court. 

13 28. Questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and the Class 

14 (including the Property Theft Subclass) include: 

15 ( a) whether audio discriminators incorporated into ADT home 

16 security systems are able to detect the breaking of tempered glass; 

17 (b) whether ADT knew or reasonably should have known that 

18 audio discriminators incorporated into certain ADT security systems were unable 

19 to detect the breaking of tempered glass; 

20 (c) whether ADT's representations that its home security systems 

21 incorporating audio discriminators were effective in detecting break-ins were false 

22 or likely to deceive reasonable consumers; 

23 (d) whether ADT deceptively omitted material information 

24 regarding the inability of audio discriminators incorporated into its home security 

25 systems to detect the breaking of tempered glass; 

26 

27 

28 

( e ) whether ADT made any express or implied warranties; 

(f) whether ADT breached any express or implied warranties; 

(g) the proper amount of restitution, damages, and punitive 
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1 damages; 

2 

3 relief; and 

(h) the propriety and appropriate scope of prospective injunctive 

4 (i) the proper amount of reasonable attorneys' fees. 

5 29. Additional questions of law and fact common to the Property Theft 

6 Subclass include: 

7 ( a) whether it was reasonably foreseeable that the incorporation of 

8 audio discriminators into certain ADT home security systems would result in 

9 undetected break-ins and thereby property theft and damage; and 

10 (b) whether the use of audio discriminators in Property Theft 

11 Subclass members' ADT home security systems were the proximate cause of 

12 Property Theft Subclass members' harm. 

13 30. These common questions of law and fact predominate over questions 

14 that affect only individual Class members. 

15 31. Plaintiffs claims are typical of Class members' claims because they 

16 are based on the same underlying facts, events, and circumstances relating to 

17 ADT's conduct. Specifically, all Class members, including Plaintiff, were subjected 

18 to the same misleading and deceptive conduct when they purchased a home 

19 security system and throughout the course of their contractual relationship with 

20 ADT, and suffered economic injury because the product was and is 

21 misrepresented. Absent ADT's business practice of deceptively and unlawfully 

22 advertising its home security systems incorporating audio discriminators, and 

23 absent its related deceptive omissions, Plaintiff and other Class members would 

24 not have purchased the home security systems and related monitoring services, or 

25 would not have been willing to pay as much for the systems and services. 

26 32. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests 

27 of the Class, has no interests incompatible with the interests of the Class, and has 

28 retained counsel competent and experienced in class action litigation. 
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1 33. Class treatment is superior to other options for resolution of the 

2 controversy because the relief sought for each Class member is small such that, 

3 absent representative litigation, it would be infeasible for Class members to redress 

4 the wrongs done to them. 

5 34. Questions of law and fact common to the Class predominate over any 

6 questions affecting only individual Class members. 

7 35. ADT has acted on grounds applicable to the Class, thereby making 

8 appropriate final injunctive and declaratory relief concerning the Class as a whole. 

9 COUNT I 

10 

11 

(Against Defendant ADT for Negligent Misrepresentation) 

(By the Class) 

12 36. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

13 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

14 37. ADT represented to Plaintiff, the Class, and other consumers that its 

15 horne security systems incorporating audio discriminators were capable of 

16 detecting break-ins where entry is attempted by breaking a window. ADT made 

17 these representations knowing that such claims would be material to a reasonable 

18 consumer's decision to purchase the horne security system and related monitoring 

19 servIces. 

20 38. ADT's representations were false and misleading because the audio 

21 discriminators incorporated into these horne security systems were incapable of 

22 detecting the breaking of tempered glass windows. 

23 39. ADT's misrepresentations and omissions regarding the characteristics 

24 and efficacy of the horne security systems incorporating audio detectors were 

25 material because a reasonable consumer would attach importance to them in 

26 determining whether to purchase such horne security systems and related ADT 

27 monitoring. 

28 40. ADT's material misrepresentations concerning the efficacy of its horne 
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1 security systems incorporating audio discriminators III detecting break-ins 

2 attempted by breaking a window were made without reasonable grounds for 

3 believing them to be true. 

4 41. ADT made material misrepresentations concerning the efficacy of its 

5 home security systems incorporating audio discriminators in detecting break-ins 

6 attempted by breaking a window to induce Plaintiff and the Class to purchase the 

7 home security systems and related monitoring services. 

8 42. Plaintiff and the Class reasonably and materially relied on ADT's 

9 material misrepresentations in choosing to purchase ADT home security systems 

10 incorporating audio discriminators and related ADT monitoring services. 

11 43. As a direct and proximate result of ADT's conduct, Plaintiff and the 

12 Class have incurred damages. 

13 

14 

15 

COUNT II 

(Against Defendant ADT for Intentional Misrepresentation) 

(By th e Class) 

16 44. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

17 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

18 45. A person who has been induced by fraudulent misrepresentations to 

19 enter into a contract or to make a conveyance may have the contract or conveyance 

20 set aside and secure a restitution of those benefits lost to him or her by the 

21 transaction. 

22 46. ADT made false statements and deceptive omissions of material fact 

23 through its advertising for its home security systems incorporating audio 

24 discriminators, regarding their efficacy in detecting break-ins where entry is 

25 attempted by breaking a window. 

26 47. At the time ADT made the false statements and deceptive omissions, 

27 ADT knew that its home security systems incorporating audio discriminators were 

28 incapable of detecting the breaking of tempered glass windows, or ADT recklessly 
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1 disregarded the truth. ADT's misrepresentations and omissions were willful and 

2 made with scienter. 

3 48. ADT affirmatively misrepresented and actively concealed material 

4 facts regarding its home security systems incorporating audio discriminators with 

5 the intent that Plaintiff and the Class rely on the misrepresentations and omissions 

6 to purchase its home security systems incorporating audio discriminators, and 

7 related monitoring services. 

8 49. Acting reasonably, Plaintiff and the Class were unaware of these 

9 misrepresented material facts and deceptive omissions. Had they been aware of the 

10 truth, Plaintiff <;lnd the Class would have acted differently, in that they would not 

11 have purchased ADT home security systems incorporating audio discriminators 

12 and related monitoring services, or would have paid less for them. 

13 50. It was reasonable for Plaintiff and the Class to rely on ADT's 

14 affirmative misrepresentations, as well as ADT's silence (i.e., deceptive 

15 omissions), and to believe that the ADT home security systems incorporating audio 

16 discriminators were capable of detecting break-ins where entry is attempted by 

17 breaking a window, including one comprised of tempered, rather than pane glass. 

18 51. As such, Plaintiff and the Class suffered injuries in fact-the loss of 

19 the money they paid for the ADT home security systems incorporating audio 

20 discriminators and related monitoring services, which were incapable of detecting 

21 the breaking of tempered glass windows, in contradiction of ADT's 

22 misrepresentations and omissions. 

23 52. As a direct and proximate result of ADT's fraud, Plaintiff and the 

24 Class suffered damages by purchasing ADT home security systems incorporating 

25 audio discriminators and related monitoring services, which they would not have 

26 purchased, or for which they would have paid substantially less, had they known 

27 the truth. Plaintiff and the Class received something worth substantially less than 

28 they paid. 
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1 

2 

3 

COUNT III 

(Against Defendant ADT for Fraud) 

(By the Class) 

4 53. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

5 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

6 54. ADT made false statements and deceptive omissions of material fact 

7 through its advertising for its home security systems incorporating audio 

8 discriminators, regarding their efficacy in detecting break-ins where entry is 

9 attempted by breaking a window. 

10 55. At the time ADT made the false statements and deceptive omissions, 

11 ADT knew that its home security systems incorporating audio discriminators were 

12 incapable of detecting the breaking of tempered glass windows, or ADT recklessly 

13 disregarded the truth. ADT's misrepresentations and omissions were willful and 

14 made with scienter. 

15 56. ADT affirmatively misrepresented and actively concealed material 

16 facts regarding its home security systems incorporating audio discriminators with 

17 the intent that Plaintiff and the Class rely on the misrepresentations and omissions 

18 to purchase its home security systems incorporating audio discriminators, and 

19 related monitoring services. 

20 57. Acting reasonably, Plaintiff and the Class were unaware of these 

21 misrepresented material facts and deceptive omissions. Had they been aware of 

22 the truth, Plaintiff and the Class would have acted differently, in that they would 

23 not have purchased ADT home security systems incorporating audio discriminators 

24 and related monitoring services, or would have paid less for them. 

25 58. It was reasonable for Plaintiff and the Class to rely on ADT's 

26 affirmative misrepresentations, as well as ADT's silence (i.e., deceptive 

27 omissions), and to believe that the ADT home security systems incorporating audio 

28 discriminators were capable of detecting break-ins where entry is attempted by 
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1 breaking a window, including one comprised of tempered, rather than pane glass. 

2 59. As such, Plaintiff and the Class suffered injuries in fact-the loss of 

3 the money they paid for the ADT home security systems incorporating audio 

4 discriminators and related monitoring services, which were incapable of detecting 

5 the breaking of tempered glass windows, in contradiction of ADT's 

6 misrepresentations and omissions. 

7 60. As a direct and proximate result of ADT's fraud, Plaintiff and the 

8 Class suffered damages by purchasing ADT home security systems incorporating 

9 audio discriminators and related monitoring services, which they would not have 

10 purchased, or for which they would have paid substantially less, had they known 

11 the truth. Plaintiff and the Class received something worth substantially less than 

12 they paid. 

13 COUNT IV 

14 

15 

(Against Defendant ADT for Unjust Enrichment) 

(By the Class) 

16 61. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

17 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

18 62. ADT, through its false, deceptive, unlawful, unfair, fraudulent, and 

19 wrongful business acts and practices, enticed Plaintiff and the Class to purchase its 

20 home security systems incorporating audio discriminators, and related monitoring 

21 serVIces. 

22 63. Plaintiff and the Class conferred a benefit on ADT by purchasing its 

23 home security systems incorporating audio discriminators, and related monitoring 

24 servIces. 

25 64. By its wrongful acts, ADT has been unjustly enriched at the expense 

26 of, and to the detriment of, Plaintiff and the Class. ADT benefited financially from 

27 the revenues and other compensation tied to the sale of its home security systems 

28 incorporating audio discriminators, and related monitoring services. 
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1 65. Under the circumstances, it would be inequitable and contrary to good 

2 conscience to permit ADT to retain the ill-gotten benefits it received from Plaintiff 

3 and the Class as a result of its deceptive marketing of and omissions relating to its 

4 home security systems incorporating audio discriminators. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

COUNT V 

(Against Defendant ADT for Violations of the Magnuson-Moss 
Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§2301, Et Seq.) 

(By th e Class) 

9 66. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

10 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

11 67. ADT's sale of its home security systems incorporating audio 

12 discriminators and related monitoring services are consumer products within the 

13 meaning of 15 U.S.C. §2301(1). 

14 68. Plaintiff and the Class are consumers within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. 

15 §2301(3). 

16 69. ADT is a supplier and warrantor as defined by 15 U.S.C. §2301(4) 

17 and (5). 

18 70. The Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act permits a consumer to recover 

19 damages caused "by the failure of a supplier, warrantor, or service contractor to 

20 comply with any obligation under this [Act], or under a written warranty, implied 

21 warranty, or service contract." 15 U.S.C. §2310(d)(I). 

22 71. As set forth herein, ADT's claims that its home security systems were 

23 capable of detecting break-ins where entry is attempted by breaking a window are 

24 false, misleading, and likely to deceive the public. As a result, ADT has breached 

25 its express, written warranty. 

26 72. ADT has violated the statutory rights of Plaintiff and the Class 

27 pursuant to the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, thereby damaging Plaintiff and the 

28 Class. 15 U.S.C. §§2301, et seq. 
- 13 -
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1 73. Plaintiff and the Class have been injured as a direct and proximate 

2 result of ADT's warranty breach because: (i) they would not have purchased the 

3 Company's home security systems incorporating audio discriminators and related 

4 monitoring services, or at least on the same terms, if they had known ADT's audio 

5 discriminators did not work on tempered glass; and (ii) these products were not 

6 sold as promised. 

7 74. Counsel for Plaintiff and the proposed Class sent written notice (via 

8 U.S. certified mail, return receipt requested) to ADT of his claims and the 

9 underlying Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act violations, which was delivered on May 

10 23,2016. 

11 75. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Class, seeks damages, equitable 

12 relief, and attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§2310(d)(1)-(2). 

13 COUNT VI 

14 (Against Defendant ADT for Strict Liability - Design Defect) 

15 (By the Property Theft Subclass) 

16 76. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

17 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

18 77. As the provider of home security systems and services incorporating 

19 audio discriminators sold to Plaintiff and the putative Class, ADT is strictly liable 

20 for any harm caused to the Class members as a result of defective design. 

21 78. The ADT home security systems and services incorporating audio 

22 discriminators sold during the Class Period were defectively designed in that the 

23 audio discriminators were unable to detect the breaking of tempered glass. 

24 79. There were alternative designs available; indeed, some audio 

25 discriminators, unlike the audio discriminators incorporated into the home security 

26 systems purchased by the Class, are capable of detecting the breaking of tempered 

27 glass. 

28 80. As a proximate and foreseeable result of ADT's defective design of 
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1 the home security systems incorporating audio discriminators, Plaintiff and the 

2 Property Theft Subclass have sustained harm in injury in that their property has 

3 been lost or damaged. 

4 81. ADT's defective design of the home security systems incorporating 

5 audio discriminators was a substantial factor in causing Plaintiffs and the Property 

6 Theft Subclass' property loss and damage. 

7 COUNT VII 

8 (Against Defendant ADT for Strict Liability - Failure to Warn) 

9 (By the Property Theft Subclass) 

10 82. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

11 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

12 83. As the provider of home security systems and services incorporating 

13 audio discriminators sold to Plaintiff and the Property Theft Subclass, ADT is 

14 strictly liable for its failure to warn of any particular risks known or knowable at 

15 the time of the products' provision and sale. At the time ADT sold home security 

16 systems incorporating audio discriminators and its related monitoring services to 

17 Plaintiff and the Property Theft Subclass, ADT was already aware, or should have 

18 been aware, that such systems could not detect the breaking of tempered glass. 

19 84. ADT never disclosed, much less warned Plaintiff, the Property Theft 

20 Subclass, or the general public, that the audio discriminators incorporated into 

21 certain ADT home security systems were incapable of detecting the breaking of 

22 tempered glass, and thereby posed to consumers a particular and significant risk of 

23 InJury. 

24 85. As a proximate and foreseeable result of ADT's failure to warn that 

25 the audio discriminators incorporated into certain ADT home security systems 

26 were incapable of detecting the breaking of tempered glass, Plaintiff and the 

27 Property Theft Subclass have sustained harm and injury in the form of property 

28 loss and damage. 
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1 86. ADT's failure to warn was a substantial factor in causing Plaintiff and 

2 the Property Theft Subclass' injury. 

3 

4 

5 

COUNT VIII 

(Against Defendant ADT for Negligence - Design Defect) 

(By the Property Theft Subclass) 

6 87. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

7 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

8 88. ADT knew or reasonably should have known of the significant 

9 dangers and risks of injury associated with the use in certain of its home security 

10 systems of audio discriminators that are incapable of detecting the breaking of 

11 tempered glass. 

12 89. ADT owed Plaintiff and the Property Theft Subclass a duty of 

13 reasonable care when formulating, providing, offering for sale, and selling home 

14 security systems and services. 

15 90. This duty of care required ADT to design its home security systems in 

16 a manner that would not expose consumers to an unknown risk of property damage 

17 and loss. 

18 91. ADT breached its legal duty by designing its home security systems 

19 incorporating audio detectors in a manner that could not adequately detect the 

20 breaking of tempered glass. 

21 

22 

23 

COUNT IX 

(Against Defendant ADT for Negligence - Failure to Warn) 

(By the Property Theft Subclass) 

24 92. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

25 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

26 93. ADT designed, manufactured, marketed, sold, and distributed home 

27 security systems incorporating audio discriminators and related monitoring 

28 services to Plaintiff and the Property Theft Subclass. 
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1 94. ADT knew or reasonably should have known that home security 

2 systems incorporating audio discriminators were dangerous or likely to be 

3 dangerous when used in a reasonably foreseeable manner. 

4 95. ADT knew or reasonably should have known that purchasers of ADT 

5 home security systems incorporating audio discriminators would not realize the 

6 danger. 

7 96. ADT failed to adequately warn of the danger. 

8 97. A reasonable manufacturer under the same or similar circumstances 

9 would have warned of the danger. 

10 98. ADT's failure to warn was a substantial factor in causing Plaintiff and 

11 the Property Theft Subclass' harm. 

COUNT X 12 

13 

14 

15 

(Against Defendant ADT for Violations of the Unfair Competition Law, 
California Business & Professions Code §§17200, Et Seq. ) 

(By the California SUbclass) 

16 99. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

17 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

18 100. The Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") prohibits any "unlawful, unfair 

19 or fraudulent business act or practice." Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. 

20 101. The acts, omissions, misrepresentations, practices, and non-

21 disclosures of ADT as alleged herein constitute business acts and practices. 

22 Fraudulent 

23 102. A statement or practice is fraudulent under the UCL if it is likely to 

24 deceive the public, applying a reasonable consumer test. 

25 103. As set forth herein, ADT's representations that its home security 

26 systems employing audio discriminators are effective, are likely to deceive 

27 reasonable consumers and the public because those security systems are ineffective 

28 at detecting the breaking of tempered glass. 
- 17 -
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1 104. In addition, ADT's deceptive omission of material information it was 

2 obligated to disclose, concerning the failure of audio discriminators to detect the 

3 breaking of tempered glass, are likely to deceive reasonable consumers, who would 

4 have acted differently if ADT had revealed such information. 

5 Unlawful 

6 105. The acts alleged herein are "unlawful" under the VCL in that they 

7 violate at least the following laws: 

8 

9 

10 

11 

• 

• 

12 Unfair 

The False Advertising Law, California Business & Professions Code 

sections 17500, et seq.; and 

The Consumers Legal Remedies Act, California Civil Code sections 

1750, et seq. 

13 106. ADT's conduct with respect to the advertising and sale of audio 

14 discriminators and the home security systems that employ them was and is unfair 

15 because ADT's conduct was and is immoral, unethical, unscrupulous, or 

16 substantially injurious to consumers, and the utility of its conduct, if any, does not 

17 outweigh the gravity of the harm to its victims. 

18 107. ADT's conduct with respect to the advertising and sale of audio 

19 discriminators and the home security systems that employ them was and is also 

20 unfair because it violates public policy as declared by specific constitutional, 

21 statutory, or regulatory provisions. 

22 108. ADT's conduct with respect to the labeling, advertising, and sale of 

23 audio discriminators and the home security systems that employ them was and is 

24 also unfair because the consumer injury was substantial, not outweighed by 

25 benefits to consumers or competition, and not one consumers themselves could 

26 reasonably have avoided. 

27 * * * 
28 109. ADT profited from its sales of the falsely, deceptively, and unlawfully 
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1 advertised audio discriminators (including to unwary consumers). 

2 110. ADT's conduct caused and continues to cause substantial injury to 

3 Plaintiff and the California Subclass, who have suffered injury in fact as a result of 

4 ADT's unlawful conduct. 

5 111. Plaintiff and the California Subclass are likely to continue to be 

6 damaged by ADT's deceptive trade practices because ADT continues to 

7 disseminate misleading information, to which Plaintiff, the California Subclass, 

8 and the general public continue to be exposed. Thus, injunctive relief enjoining 

9 ADT's deceptive practices is proper. 

10 112. In accordance with California Business & Professions Code section 

11 17203, Plaintiff seeks an Order enjoining ADT from continuing to conduct 

12 business through unlawful, unfair, and/or fraudulent acts and practices, and 

13 requiring ADT to commence a corrective advertising campaign. Plaintiff further 

14 seeks, on behalf of himself and the California Subclass, restitution of all monies 

15 ADT obtained through the use of unfair, unlawful, or fraudulent business acts or 

16 practices. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

COUNT XI 

(Against Defendant ADT for Violations of the False Advertising Law, 
California Business & Professions Code §§17500, Et Seq. ) 

(By the California Subclass) 

113. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

22 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

23 114. The False Advertising Law ("F AL") provides that "[i]t is unlawful for 

24 any person, firm, corporation or association, or any employee thereof with intent 

25 directly or indirectly to dispose of real or personal property or to perform services" 

26 to disseminate any statement "which is untrue or misleading, and which is known, 

27 or which by the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue or 

28 misleading." Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17500. 
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1 115. As alleged herein, the advertisements, policies, acts, and practices of 

2 ADT relating to audio discriminators misled consumers acting reasonably as to the 

3 effectiveness of the product. 

4 116. Plaintiff and the California Subclass suffered injury in fact as a result 

5 of ADT's actions as set forth herein because they purchased home security systems 

6 in reliance on ADT's false and misleading claims and deceptive omissions. 

7 117. ADT's business practices as alleged herein constitute unfair, 

8 deceptive, untrue, and misleading advertising pursuant to the F AL because ADT 

9 has advertised the product in a manner that is untrue and misleading, which ADT 

10 knew or reasonably should have known, and omitted material information from its 

11 advertising. 

12 118. ADT profited from its sales of the falsely and deceptively advertised 

13 audio discriminators to unwary consumers. 

14 119. As a result, Plaintiff, the California Subclass, and the general public 

15 are entitled to injunctive relief. 

16 120. Pursuant to California Business & Professions Code section 17535, 

17 Plaintiff, on behalf of himself, the California Subclass, and the general public, 

18 seeks an Order enjoining ADT from continuing to engage in deceptive business 

19 practices, false advertising, and any other act prohibited by law, including those set 

20 forth in this Complaint. Plaintiff further seeks, on behalf of himself and the 

21 California Subclass, restitution of all monies ADT obtained through the use of 

22 unfair, unlawful, or fraudulent business acts or practices. 

23 COUNT XII 

24 (Against Defendant ADT for Violations of the Consumer Legal Remedies Act, 
25 California Civil Code §§1750, Et Seq. ) 

26 (By the California Subclass) 

27 121. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

28 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 
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1 122. The Consumer Legal Remedies Act ("CLRA") prohibits deceptive 

2 practices in connection with the conduct of a business that provides goods, 

3 property, or services primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 

4 123. ADT's false and misleading statements, policies, acts, and practices 

5 were designed to, and did, induce the purchase and use of its home security 

6 systems and monitoring services, employing audio discriminators, for personal, 

7 family, or household purposes by Plaintiff and the California Subclass, and thereby 

8 violated and continue to violate at least the following sections of the CLRA: 

9 (a) California Civil Code section 1770(a)(5): representing that 

10 goods have characteristics, uses, or benefits which they do not have; 

11 (b) California Civil Code section 1770(a)(7): representing that 

12 goods are of a particular standard, quality, or grade if they are of another; 

13 (c) California Civil Code section 1770(a)(9): advertising goods 

14 with intent not to sell them as advertised; and 

15 (d) California Civil Code section 1770(a)(16): representing the 

16 subject of a transaction has been supplied in accordance with a previous 

17 representation when it has not. 

18 124. ADT profited from its sale of the falsely, deceptively and unlawfully 

19 advertised products to unwary consumers. As a result, Plaintiff and the California 

20 Subclass have suffered harm. 

21 125. ADT's wrongful business practices constituted, and constitute, a 

22 continuing course of conduct in violation of the CLRA. 

23 126. Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks, on behalf of himself, the California 

24 Subclass, and the general public, appropriate injunctive relief, as well as 

25 reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. 

26 127. Counsel for Plaintiff and the proposed Class sent written notice (via 

27 U.S. certified mail, return receipt requested) to ADT of his claims and the 

28 underlying CLRA violations, which was delivered on May 23, 2016. Thus, 
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1 pursuant to California Civil Code section 1782, Plaintiff intends to amend this 

2 Complaint to bring a claim for actual damages after the passing of the statutory 

3 notice period. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

COUNT XIII 

(Against Defendant ADT for Breach of Implied Warranty, 
California Commercial Code §2314) 

(By the California Subclass) 

128. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

9 allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

10 129. ADT, through its acts and omissions set forth herein, in the marketing, 

11 promotion, and sale of its home security systems incorporating audio 

12 discriminators and related monitoring services, made representations to Plaintiff 

13 and the California Subclass that, among other things, the home security systems 

14 were capable of detecting break-ins where entry is attempted by breaking a 

15 window or glass door. Plaintiff and the California Subclass purchased the ADT 

16 home security systems incorporating audio discriminators, and related ADT 

17 monitoring services, manufactured, advertised, marketed, promoted, and sold by 

18 ADT as described herein. 

19 130. ADT is a merchant with respect to the goods of this kind which were 

20 sold to Plaintiff and the California Subclass, and there was, in the sale to Plaintiff 

21 and the California Subclass, an implied wananty that those goods were 

22 merchantable. 

23 131. However, ADT breached that implied wananty in that ADT home 

24 security systems incorporating audio discriminators are not capable of detecting 

25 the breaking of tempered glass, as set forth in detail herein. 

26 132. As an actual and proximate result of ADT's conduct, Plaintiff and the 

27 California Subclass did not receive goods as impliedly wananted by ADT to be 

28 merchantable in that they did not conform to the promises and affirmations made 
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1 by ADT. 

2 133. Plaintiff and the California Subclass have sustained damages as a 

3 proximate result of the foregoing breach of implied warranty. 

4 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

5 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself, all others similarly situated, 

6 and the general public, prays for judgment against ADT as to each and every 

7 Count, and the following remedies: 

8 A. An Order declaring this action to be a proper class action, 

9 appointing Plaintiff as Class representative, and appointing his counsel as Class 

10 counsel; 

11 

12 

B. 

C. 

An Order requiring ADT to bear the cost of Class notice; 

An Order requiring ADT to disgorge or return all momes, 

13 revenues, and profits obtained by any means of wrongful act or practice; 

14 D. An Order requiring ADT to pay all actual and statutory 

15 damages permitted under the Counts alleged herein, including punitive damages; 

16 E. An Order requiring ADT to pay restitution to restore all funds 

17 acquired by means of any act or practice declared by the Court to be an unlawful, 

18 unfair, or fraudulent business act or practice, untrue or misleading advertising; 

19 F. An Order enjoining ADT from making any false or misleading 

20 representation concerning its home security systems incorporating audio 

21 discriminators; 

22 G. An Order compelling ADT to destroy all misleading and 

23 deceptive advertising materials relating to its home security systems incorporating 

24 audio discriminators; 

25 

26 campaign; 

27 

28 

H. 

I. 

J. 

An Order compelling ADT to conduct a corrective advertising 

Pre- and post-judgment interest; 

An award of attorneys' fees and costs; and 
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1 K. Any other and further relief that Court deems necessary, just, or 

2 proper. 

3 JURY DEMAND 

4 Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

5 Dated: May 26, 2016 ROBBINS ARROYO LLP 

6 
KEVIN A SEEL Y 
ASHLEY R. RIFKIN 

7 

b~KIN 8 

9 

10 600 B Street, Suite 1900 
San Diego, CA 92101 

1 1 Telephone: (619) 525-3990 

12 
Facsimile: (619) 525-3991 
E-mail: kseely@robbinsarroyo.com 

13 
aritkin@robbinsarroyo.com 

14 LA W OFFICE OF JACK 
FITZGERALD, PC 

15 JACK FITZGERALD 

16 
Hillcrest Professional Building 
3636 Fourth Avenue, Suite 202 

17 San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: (619) 692-3840 

18 Facsimile: (619) 362-9555 

19 
E-mail: j ack@jackfitzgeraldlaw.com 

20 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 1099151 

28 
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